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REPORT OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON UNIFORM LEGISLATION AND STATUTES 
REVIEW  

IN RELATION TO THE  

CO-OPERATIVES BILL 2007 

1 REFERENCE AND PROCEDURE 

1.1 The Co-operatives Bill 2007 (Bill ) was introduced into the Legislative Council on 9 
April 2008 by Hon Sue Ellery MLC, Minister for Child Protection representing the 
Minister for Consumer Protection (Minister ). 

1.2 Following its Second Reading by the Minister, the Bill stood referred to this 
Committee pursuant to Standing Order 230A, as it ratifies or gives effect to a bilateral 
or multilateral intergovernmental agreement to which the Government of the State is a 
party. 

1.3 The Committee is required to report to the Legislative Council on its inquiry into the 
Bill pursuant to Standing Order 230A(4), which reads: 

The Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review Committee, or other 

committee, receiving a Bill under subclause (3) is to present its final 

report not later than 30 days of the day of the reference (exclusive of 

the referral day) or such other period as may be ordered by the 

House. 

1.4 On 8 May 2008, the Legislative Council granted the Committee an extension of the 
reporting date on the Bill from 13 May 2008 to 29 May 2008. 

2 INQUIRY PROCEDURE 

2.1 The Committee’s inquiry into the Bill proceeded by way of a hearing on 29 April 
2008 with Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and 
Employment Protection (DOCEP).   

2.2 The Committee is grateful to Mrs McKeown for her attendance and the assistance 
provided by her to the Committee.  A transcript of the hearing is provided at Appendix 
1. 

2.3 The Committee advertised for public submissions on the Bill in The West Australian 

newspaper on Saturday, 19 April 2008. 
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2.4 The Committee wrote to Co-operatives WA, the peak industry body for co-operatives 
in Western Australia, seeking a submission on the Bill.  A submission in support of 
the Bill was subsequently received from Co-operatives WA.1 

3 UNIFORM LEGISLATION  

3.1 National legislative schemes implementing uniform legislation take a variety of forms.  
Nine different structures, each with a varying degree of emphasis on national 
consistency or uniformity of laws and adaptability, have been identified.  The 
structures are summarised in Appendix 2.  The Bill most closely resembles the 
legislative structure referred to as ‘Structure 6’, with Western Australia implementing 
a nationally-agreed legislative framework.   

3.2 When examining uniform legislation, the Committee considers what are known as 
‘fundamental legislative scrutiny principles’.  Although not formally adopted by the 
Legislative Council as part of the Committee’s terms of reference, the Committee 
applies the principles as a convenient framework for the scrutiny of uniform 
legislation.2  These principles are set out in Appendix 3. 

4 BACKGROUND TO THE BILL  

4.1 A national uniform scheme for co-operatives was considered in a 1998 report of the 
former Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and 
Intergovernmental Agreements (1998 Report).3  A co-operative was defined in the 
1998 Report in the following terms: 

A co-operative is an autonomous association of persons united 

voluntarily to meet their common economic, social and cultural needs 

and aspirations through a jointly-owned and democratically 

controlled enterprise. 

A co-operative is an incorporated body, generally registered under 

State or Territory law. The majority of co-operatives are set up for the 

purpose of community advancement and trading, with a number 

engaged in community development and primary production 

activities. Apart from rural industries, general co-operatives activities 

range across areas as diverse as child care, housing, taxis, 

                                                 
1  Letter from Mr Chris Enright, Chairman, Co-operatives WA, 5 May 2008. 
2  For further background on fundamental legislative principles can be found in a report by the predecessor 

Committee, the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and General Purposes.  Refer to Western 
Australia, Legislative Council, Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and General Purposes, 
Report 23, The Work of the Committee During the Second Session of the Thirty-Sixth Parliament - August 
13 2002 to November 16 2004, November 2004, pp4-9. 

3  Western Australia, Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and 
Intergovernmental Agreements, Report 22, Co-operatives Law, 21 May 1998. 
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community radio and many other groups that provide services to the 

community. 

Co-operatives are member-based organisations operated for the 

benefit of their members. The factors which distinguish co-operatives 

from other forms of organisation are their mutuality, their democratic 

structure and character (each member is entitled to one vote only, 

regardless of the size of their shareholding), and the fact that capital 

in the co-operative services the activity rather than providing 

individual benefit. 

In forming a co-operative, members agree to make use of its services 

and contribute capital to fund the enterprise, usually by purchasing 

shares. Funds are contributed not for capital gain, but for service or 

trading benefits. Members may receive dividends on capital 

contributed, but these are secondary to the benefits derived. 

It is an enterprise which operates within a market economy with the 

aim of integrating social and economic objectives through the 

provisions of mutual benefits. Co-operatives are a product of our 

market economy, often established in response to market failures or 

imbalances. 

Democratic control is exercised by members electing a board or 

directors charged with management of the co-operative, by approval 

of the rules by which the co-operative operates, and by the passing of 

resolutions at general meetings. 

A co-operative may raise capital from its membership and from 

sources external to the membership. Offering fair market rate returns. 

However control of the co-operative is exercised solely by the 

membership and is unrelated to the source or level of capital.4 

4.2 The DOCEP website provides the following general advice on the current laws 
applying to co-operatives: 

Each Australian State and Territory legislates to give co-operatives a 

corporate identity distinct from companies or associations. 

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 

administers the two Western Australian laws specifically relevant to 

co-operatives:  

                                                 
4  Ibid, p2. 
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the Companies (Co-operative) Act (1943) and the Co-

operative and Provident Societies Act (1903). At present there 

are approximately 70 co-operatives registered under the 

former Act and one under the latter.5 

4.3 The Committee was advised by the DOCEP that: 

[I] n Western Australia we are really characterised by the fact that 

there is a strong agricultural regional theme underlying a lot of our 

cooperatives. There are several different types. There are the small 

local supermarket-type cooperatives, which are referred to as service 

cooperatives. That is the situation in which, for example, you pay an 

annual fee and become a member of the cooperative, and, as a result, 

you get produce at a discounted rate. You then have the more 

marketing-type cooperatives, such as CBH—Co-operative Bulk 

Handling—where the farmers provide grain to the cooperative, and 

the cooperative then proceeds to market that grain, obviously at a 

better rate. I guess the underlying theme for a lot of cooperative 

structures is the notion of economies of scale, so members take 

advantage of the economies of scale to drive better bargains in terms 

of selling and marketing their produce.6 

4.4 The 1998 Report noted the following reasons for a national uniform legislative 
scheme for co-operatives: 

Co-operatives have for some time been agitating for modern co-

operatives legislation. They had argued that existing legislation was 

antiquated and did not provide a suitable framework in the current 

commercial and social environment. The co-operatives submitted that 

their activities were hamstrung by the inadequacies of the legislation. 

They recommended the establishment of uniform co-operative 

legislation. They proposed that the legislation be less regulatory and 

interventionist and that standards of financial accountability be 

included. 

Another major problem with the existing co-operatives legislation 

was that co-operatives were subject to the Corporations Law if they 

wished to have members or issue securities across State/Territory 

                                                 
5  http://www.docep.wa.gov.au/ConsumerProtection/Content/Business/Cooperatives/, (viewed on 12 May 

2008). 
6  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p2. 
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borders. This was recognized as an impediment to co-operatives 

trading interstate.7 

4.5 These points were again raised by Mrs McKeown in evidence to the Committee: 

The purpose of the bill is to replace the two pieces of legislation that 

currently regulate cooperatives in Western Australia—the Companies 

(Co-operative) Act, and the Cooperative and Provident Societies Act. 

Both these pieces of legislation are at least 60 years old, and are 

based on outdated nineteenth-century companies law, so they do not 

adequately regulate cooperatives in the current commercial 

environment. Behind the motivation for this bill is also a strong push 

from industry. This bill is something that the industry has wanted for 

some time. Cooperatives as an organisational form is confronted with 

various challenges, and the industry’s push is for legislation that will 

allow it to grow, and that will facilitate interstate trade.8 

4.6 One of the identified advantages of the Bill is the new mutual recognition provisions 
that “streamline the registration requirements for a co-operative wanting to register 

to trade in another State”.9 

4.7 In the course of the Second Reading address on the Bill, the Minister stated that: 

The purpose of the Co-operatives Bill 2007 is to replace the 

Companies (Co-operative) Act 1943 and the Co-operative and 

Provident Societies Act 1903 with legislation that reflects the current 

commercial and social environment of cooperatives in Western 

Australia. The bill is essentially a response to the cooperative 

industry’s request for more modern legislation that will facilitate 

interstate trade and the growth of cooperatives. Cooperatives are 

organisations that are owned and democratically controlled by 

people who have united to meet their common economic, social 

and/or cultural needs. There are currently 73 cooperatives in Western 

Australia. These cooperatives have been established for a variety of 

reasons, including value-added production, export development, 

marketing, and promotion of commodities. In Western Australia, 

cooperatives exist in a wide range of industries, such as retail, 

agriculture, manufacturing, wool processing, taxi services and arts 

                                                 
7  Western Australia, Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and 

Intergovernmental Agreements, Report 22, Co-operatives Law, 21 May 1998, p5. 
8  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p1. 
9  Letter from Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment 

Protection, 6 May 2008, p2. 
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and crafts. They have been a particularly vital part of regional 

Western Australia for a long time and contribute significantly to the 

economy of the state. The current legislation for cooperatives is based 

on outdated nineteenth century companies law that inadequately 

regulates cooperatives in the contemporary market. The proposed bill 

will bring Western Australia into line with legislation in other states 

and territories. A green bill was released for public consultation in 

September 2006. The green bill was made available for public 

comment and it was distributed to all registered cooperatives and 

various government agencies. That process has enabled this bill to be 

drafted to address the key issues raised during consultation and to 

minimise any disruption to business that might result from Western 

Australian cooperatives having to comply with the new legislation. 

The bill has also been prepared in ongoing consultation with an 

industry reference group comprising members and representatives 

from Co-operatives WA, the industry’s peak body. The objective of the 

industry reference group has been to ensure that issues of particular 

concern for Western Australian cooperatives are addressed. The bill 

is strongly supported by Co-operatives WA and the cooperatives 

industry.  

Once implemented, the new act will have a number of specific 

advantages for cooperatives in Western Australia. In particular, it 

will replace the two current acts with a single, modern, plain-

language statute for regulating cooperatives. The new act will also 

increase a cooperative’s ability to raise capital by allowing it to issue 

a new type of financial instrument called a cooperative capital unit to 

both members and non-members. Cooperatives are currently unable 

to issue securities to non-members, thereby restricting access to 

investor capital and, in some instances, stifling the growth of the 

cooperative. The cooperative capital unit provisions offer 

cooperatives the opportunity to expand their capital base, while 

safeguarding the rights of members.  

The bill will facilitate interstate trade by cooperatives by introducing 

mutual recognition provisions that will make it easier for Western 

Australian cooperatives to trade in other states and territories. 

Members’ interests will also be protected with the inclusion of new 

director duties similar to those in the Corporations Act 2001, which 

will make directors more accountable to the cooperative and its 

members, as well as a new requirement for cooperatives to establish a 

grievance procedure for members.  
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Many small businesses are cooperatives or are members of 

cooperatives and use their services to improve their businesses. The 

cooperative structure can appeal to many small businesses by 

allowing them to compete more effectively with other business 

structures. A cooperative can be an important tool for small 

businesses by increasing their purchasing power and providing 

access to equipment and other resources. The bill will modernise 

cooperatives legislation to enable cooperatives to compete more 

effectively in an increasingly competitive and globalised economy. 

The bill is consistent with the government’s Small Business Way 

Ahead policy, which aims to provide support for a strong and vital 

small business sector.  

The government is mindful of the need to ensure that the transition to 

new laws does not cause unnecessary disruption. As a result, the bill 

will give existing cooperatives a generous two-year period in which to 

change their rules and come under the operation of the new 

legislation. Measures have also been taken to ensure that the costs of 

transitioning to the new legislation are minimised. The bill provides 

that existing cooperatives that register under the new legislation will 

not be required to pay a registration fee. In addition, small 

cooperatives will be exempt from some of the financial reporting 

requirements, and the regulations of the new act will contain model 

rules for cooperatives, which should mitigate some of the costs 

incurred in preparing rules to comply with the new legislation.  

Cooperatives in Western Australia are facing increased competition 

at both the domestic and international levels and from other modes of 

business, such as companies. The pressure for legislative change has 

increased as cooperatives need to quickly respond to changing market 

conditions. The bill will better equip cooperatives to respond to these 

market challenges and will facilitate the growth of the cooperatives 

industry.10  

5 THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  

5.1 The Committee was advised that in 2007 the Ministerial Council on Consumer Affairs 
endorsed a proposed Australian Uniform Cooperatives Laws Agreement (proposed 
intergovernmental agreement).  The proposed intergovernmental agreement has yet to 
be signed by Western Australia.  Hon Sheila McHale MLA, Minister for Consumer 
Protection, advised the Committee that the Ministerial Council on Consumer Affairs: 

                                                 
10  Hon Sue Ellery, Minister for Child Protection representing the Minister for Consumer Protection, 

Western Australia, Legislative Council, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), 9 April 2008, pp2035-2036. 
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[R]ecommended that Ministers from participating jurisdictions make 

appropriate arrangements to have the Agreement signed on behalf of 

their State or Territory.  Most jurisdictions, including Western 

Australia, have indicated that they require Cabinet approval to have 

the Agreement signed by their Premier and that they will seek this 

approval at the earliest opportunity.11  

5.2 Hon Sheila McHale MLA, Minister for Consumer Protection, advised the Committee 
that the Government has agreed that Western Australia should implement “alternate 

consistent”, rather than national template, legislation in order to accommodate local 
requirements.12  There are therefore no apparent disadvantages to Western Australia 
being a party to the agreement. 

5.3 Both the national template legislation and the Bill are based on the Queensland 
legislation, which is the most up-to-date co-operatives legislation.13 

6 CONSULTATION  

6.1 The Committee was advised that the Bill is “the output of the collaborative efforts” of 
the DOCEP and the Council of Co-operatives WA.14  The Committee understands that 
since the Bill was released in September 2006 as a Green Bill, extensive consultation 
with stakeholders has taken place: 

Mrs McKeown: We issued a green bill in 2006 for public 

consultation. That was released for three months, and we received 

written submissions during that time. We also held a workshop, which 

we invited all cooperatives to attend, and we received their feedback 

and input into the legislation at that time. We also contacted directly 

those regional cooperatives that were not able to attend the 

workshop. 

The CHAIRMAN: The minister advised the house in introducing the 

bill that there are about 73 cooperatives in Western Australia. 

Mrs McKeown: That is right. 

The CHAIRMAN: How many of them were able to attend your 

workshops? 

                                                 
11  Letter from Hon Sheila McHale MLA, Minister for Consumer Protection, 1 May 2008, p1. 
12  Ibid, p3. 
13  Ibid, p4. 
14  Letter from Mr Chris Enright, Chairman, Co-operatives WA, 5 May 2008, p1. 
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Mrs McKeown: There were approximately 50 people there. The 

estimate is that about 15 cooperatives were represented at the 

workshop. We have also been having ongoing consultation with Co-

operatives WA an industry reference group that represents over 80 

per cent of cooperatives in WA and is the key industry body here in 

Western Australia. We have been in ongoing consultation with them 

on every aspect of the bill, and in terms of drafting instructions and 

comments on the green bill. We are also currently putting together an 

education strategy with Cooperatives WA.15 

6.2 Co-operatives WA advised the Committee that: 

“Co-operatives WA supports the passage of the Bill which it believes 

will provide a clearer governance platform for both existing and co-

operatives that are formed in the future.  Importantly the Bill makes 

allowance for a number of long standing practices that underpin 

existing co-operatives to carry forward under grandfathering 

provisions.  We believe the legislation has achieved a balanced 

approach which has earned wide spread endorsement throughout the 

sector. 

We endorse the Bill and will be assisting our Membership to 

transition to the new legislation.16 

6.3 The Committee was advised by the DOCEP that it had also directly contacted smaller 
co-operatives that are not members of Co-operatives WA, and that the DOCEP was 
satisfied that the concerns of these smaller co-operatives had been addressed.17  The 
Committee was advised that: 

It is not one of those pieces of legislation in which there are two very 

different competing interests. There seems to be general support for it 

and, as I said, it is something that industry has wanted. In terms of the 

national aspect, it is a bit of a win-win for us. The state is not fettered 

in its powers in relation to the national template legislation, and yet 

at the same time we get the benefits of mutual recognition and 

consistency.18 

                                                 
15  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p2. 
16  Letter from Mr Chris Enright, Chairman, Co-operatives WA, 5 May 2008, p1. 
17  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, pp6-7. 
18  Ibid, p6. 
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7 IMPACT OF THE BILL ON CO-OPERATIVES  

7.1 The Committee sought advice from the DOCEP as to the anticipated financial and 
administrative effect of the Bill on co-operatives, and particularly smaller co-
operatives: 

The CHAIRMAN: Will the legislation increase the financial burden 

on cooperatives? 

Mrs McKeown: No, it should not. In fact, certain provisions have 

been put in place to ensure that the financial burden is lessened. For 

example, one of the differences between the Western Australian 

legislation and the template legislation is that Western Australia is 

introducing exemptions for cooperatives for a lot of the financial 

reporting requirements. That is consistent with the Corporations Act, 

which also contains exemptions for small companies. The regulations 

will also include some model rules. Under the legislation, 

cooperatives are required to register with a set of rules; the 

regulations will contain the rules. Therefore, a small cooperative can 

use those regulations as its rules and will not have to go to the 

expense of hiring a solicitor to draft the rules for the business. 

The CHAIRMAN: … I want to inquire into how small cooperatives 

will fare under the new legislation. You have indicated that some 

assistance will be provided to small cooperatives to help them with 

administrative burdens, such as coming up with the model rules. Are 

there any other ways that small cooperatives might find it a burden to 

comply with this new legislation, or any new aspects of the law? 

Mrs McKeown: The only new burden is educating the cooperatives 

about their new requirements under the legislation but that is the 

same for any new cooperative and any new legislation that comes into 

place. We have tried to do other things to lessen the burden. For 

example, we have put in place updated modes of communication. We 

now allow cooperatives to use facsimiles to communicate with their 

members. That will make it easier for small, regional cooperatives 

that are often quite remote and whose members can be quite 

dispersed. That measure will lessen the onus on them. Our education 

program is aimed at doing that also. The Department of Consumer 

and Employment Protection, in conjunction with Cooperatives WA, 

has planned a series of about seven workshops that will be held in not 

only metropolitan WA, but also regional areas. Our focus will be to 

draw in the small cooperatives and to provide them with a manual on 

how to register under the new legislation. We will inform them also of 
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their key requirements. We will update our website to provide 

assistance for small cooperatives. The workshops are important 

because not all cooperatives will have access to the internet. 

… 

The CHAIRMAN: ... Will this bill implement any changes to the 

current fee requirements for registration or other fees that apply to 

cooperatives?  

Mrs McKeown: The fee structure will be slightly different in that 

different documents will have to be registered but the fees will remain 

the same or be even less in some instances. There will not be an 

increase in the fees. Our aim is to make sure that the fees are 

commensurate with the current legislation. We will not require 

current cooperatives that want to transfer to the new legislation to 

have to pay another registration fee because obviously they will have 

already paid a fee under the current legislation.19 

7.2 The following additional information was provided to the Committee subsequent to 
the above hearing: 

I can now confirm that under the current legislation, the fee for 

registering as a co-operative is $255.  Together with associated costs 

(eg submitting company memorandum etc) the total cost of registering 

a new co-operative under the existing legislation is approximately 

$565. 

Fees for the new legislation will be outlined in the regulations, which 

are yet to be drafted.  However, it is anticipated that the regulations, 

will be based on the Queensland regulations (n.b. the Bill is based on 

the Queensland Act).  The Queensland regulations indicate that the 

fee for registering as a co-operative is $116.  Together with 

associated costs, the total cost of registering as a co-operative under 

the Queensland regulations is approximately $500. 

In any event, it is intended that fees under the new legislation will be 

commensurate with the fees under the existing legislation.20 

                                                 
19  Ibid, pp3-4. 
20  Letter from Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment 

Protection, 6 May 2008, p2. 
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8 SELECTED CLAUSES OF THE BILL  

8.1 The Bill has 493 clauses and 8 schedules.   Although a large Bill, it was pointed out 
that it is not much larger than the combined size of the two current Acts dealing with 
co-operatives law in this State.21  The following clauses are highlighted: 

Clause 2 - Commencement 

8.2 The Committee was advised by Hon Sheila McHale MLA, Minister for Consumer 
Protection, that as Western Australia is proceeding with alternative consistent 
legislation via the Bill, the State was not bound by the national template legislation 
timetable: 

Subject to the enactment of the Co-operatives Bill, it is proposed that 

the new legislation would commence operation in Western Australia 

in 2009.  The precise date would be subject to consultation with the 

local industry.22 

Part 10, Division 2 - Co-operative Capital Units 

8.3 The Minister’s Second Reading speech highlighted the inclusion in the Bill of a new 
type of financial instrument called a ‘co-operative capital unit’ that will increase a co-
operative’s ability to raise capital. 

8.4 The Committee sought advice from the DOCEP as to the experience of using co-
operative capital units in New South Wales, where these instruments have been 
permitted for some time: 

They have not been overly successful in New South Wales. Having 

said that, some cooperatives have embraced them and used them very 

effectively. But in terms of the number of cooperatives that have 

picked them up, there are not a large proportion of cooperatives that 

have used them; and that is one of the reasons that WA has changed 

the cooperative capital unit provisions slightly. Our feedback from 

industry was that part of the problem with cooperative capital units, 

or CCUs, is their voting structure. So, unlike a share in a company in 

which for every share held you have a vote in relation to that share so 

it is proportionate voting rights, with cooperatives you have only one 

vote regardless of the number of shares you hold. So that was seen as 

an impediment to investors wanting to acquire these units, and I guess 

the CCUs have to compete with other financial instruments like 

                                                 
21  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p2. 
22  Letter from Hon Sheila McHale MLA, Minister for Consumer Protection, 1 May 2008, p2. 
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shares, and if investors are not being given the same rights in relation 

to those financial instruments, then they were not appealing to 

investors; and as a result of the changes that WA has made, the 

national template legislation is now also going to change to reflect 

that amendment that we have made.23 

Clause 406 

Powers of inspectors 

8.5 The Committee noted the wide powers of inspectors under the Bill, and in particular 
the power of entry under clause 406(1)(c): 

406. Entry of place 

 (1) An inspector may enter a place if - 

  (a) its occupier consents to the entry; or 

  (b) the entry is authorised by a warrant; or 

(c) it is a place on which the affairs or activities 

of a co-operative are managed or conducted. 

8.6 Clause 406(1)(c) provides inspectors with the power to enter private dwellings in 
which a home office is located without consent or warrant.  The Committee clarified 
the purpose of these new powers with the DOCEP: 

Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Are those powers different from those in 

the current legislation? 

Mrs McKeown: They are slightly different. It is difficult to say 

because they probably have greater powers in the sense that it is now 

more specifically spelt out under this legislation than it has been 

previously. Again, it is consistent with the national legislation’s 

approach to investigation and the powers of investigators. 

The CHAIRMAN: Under clause 406(1)(c) an inspector may enter a 

place if —  

it is a place on which the affairs or activities of a co-

operative are managed or conducted.  

                                                 
23  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p6. 
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I wonder whether there was any contemplation about where those 

affairs or activities might be  managed or conducted at a residential 

premises in the case of a very small cooperative. 

Mrs McKeown: I guess it is worded in such a way that if the premises 

is a residence then they can inspect it, yes. However, a lot of these 

provisions really are borne out of the sort of requirement to protect 

members as well. I guess in that sense, that also is why it has been 

embraced nationally. There has been seen a need to ensure that 

cooperatives are conducting themselves in such a way that they are 

protecting members’ interests and that there is not, for example, fraud 

and so on. While the bill attempts to provide cooperatives with a 

greater commercial ability—and, in that sense, to be much more like 

companies—at the same time, if they are going to give those sorts of 

rights, I guess there is then the balancing need to ensure that 

members are protected in the process and that those powers are not 

abused.24 

8.7 The Committee was also advised by the DOCEP that: 

• Unlike clause 406(1)(c) of the Bill, inspectors under the 

current legislation do not have the specific power to enter a 

place on which the activities of a co-operative are conducted. 

• Allowing inspectors to enter and search a place on which the 

activities of a co-operative are conducted overcomes the 

mischief of co-operatives under the current legislation, failing 

to produce all relevant documents. 

• One of the objectives of the Bill is to safeguard the rights of 

members.  Increasing the investigation powers assists in 

making co-operatives more accountable to their members. 

• The investigative powers outlined in Part 15 of the Bill are 

consistent with the investigation powers in most other States 

and Territories and in the national template legislation.25 

Transitional Provisions - Clause 2 and Schedule 8 

8.8 The Bill contains a number of transitional provisions unique to Western Australia, 
with some clauses (clauses 490 and 491, repealing the existing co-operatives 

                                                 
24  Ibid, p5. 
25  Letter from Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment 

Protection, 6 May 2008, p2. 
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legislation) and Schedule 8, Division 3 (dealing with consequential amendments on 
the repeal of the current co-operatives legislation) not coming into operation for two 
years after Royal Assent. 

8.9 The Committee was advised by the DOCEP that: 

Mrs McKeown: ... The transitional provisions under the WA 

legislation are slightly unique to Western Australia. In a sense, WA’s 

legislation is entirely consistent with the national legislation, but it is 

also stand-alone legislation in that respect; it is not tied into the 

national legislation. In terms of transitional provisions, we have 

allowed for specific provisions that will cater for cooperatives in WA 

transferring to the new legislation. We have looked at providing ways 

of making the legislation less onerous for cooperatives here in 

Western Australia. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is the reason for the two-year transition 

period? 

Mrs McKeown: That is right, yes.26 

9 FURTHER AMENDMENTS TO THE BILL  

9.1 The Committee was advised that the Government will move an amendment in the 
Legislative Council to correct a minor drafting error in relation to clause 322(1): 

Clause 322(1) as currently drafted does not contemplate the fact that 

under the transitional provisions in Part 6 of the Bill, a former 

member may be paid out at less than the full nominal value of their 

shares. 

This results in an unfair situation where a former member may be 

liable upon winding up, to contribute to the co-operative, the full 

nominal value of the shares, even though the member at the time of 

cancellation received less than the full nominal value of the shares.  

As such, clause 322(1) will be amended to provide that a former 

shareholder is only liable to contribute the amount paid to them by 

the co-operative when their membership was cancelled.27 

                                                 
26  Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 

Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p2. 
27  Letter from Mrs Karen McKeown, Legal Policy Officer, Department of Consumer and Employment 

Protection, 6 May 2008, p3. 
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10 IS THE BILL CONSISTENT WITH THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT ? 

10.1 In light of the foregoing, the Committee makes the following finding: 

Finding 

The Committee finds that the Co-operatives Bill 2007 is consistent with the agreement of the 
Ministerial Council on Consumer Affairs and the proposed Australian Uniform Cooperatives 

Laws Agreement. 

10.2 The Committee commends its report to the House for consideration. 

 

__________________________ 
Hon Simon O’Brien MLC 
Chairman 
 

27 May 2008 
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Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review 

Hearing commenced at 10.40 am 

McKEOWN, MRS KAREN MARY 
Legal Policy Officer, 

Tuesday, 29 April 2008 

Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, 
sworn and examined: 

Session Two Page 1 

The CHAIRMAN: On behalf of the committee, I would like to welcome you to our hearing this 
morning. Before we begin, I must ask you to take either the oath or affirmation. 

[Witness took the oath.] 

The CHAIRMAN: Can you please state your full name and the capacity in which you appear 
before the committee. 

Mrs McKeown: My name is Karen Mary McKeown. I appear as a legal policy officer at consumer 
protection in the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection. 

The CHAIRMAN: You will have signed a document entitled "Information for Witnesses". Have 
you read and understood that document? 

Mrs McKeown: I have. 

The CHAIRMAN: These proceedings are being recorded by Hansard. A transcript of your 
evidence will be provided to you. To assist the committee and Hansard, could you please quote the 
full title of any document you refer to during the course of the hearing for the record. I remind you 
that your transcript will become a matter for public record. If, for some reason, you wish to make a 
confidential statement during today's proceedings, you should request that the evidence be taken in 
closed session. If the committee grants your request, any public and media in attendance will be 
excluded from the hearing. Please note that until such time as the transcript of your public evidence 
is finalised, it should not be made public. I advise you that premature publication or disclosure of 
public evidence may constitute a contempt of Parliament and may mean that the material published 
or disclosed is not subject to parliamentary privilege. 

We are inquiring into the Co-operatives Bill 2007, bill 160-2. Could you provide a brief overview 
of the purpose of the Co-operatives Bill 2007? 

Mrs McKeown: The purpose of the bill is to replace the two pieces of legislation that currently 
regulate cooperatives in Western Australia-the Companies (Co-operative) Act, and the Co
operative and Provident Societies Act. Both these pieces of legislation are at least 60 years old, and 
are based on outdated nineteenth-century companies law, so they do not adequately regulate 
cooperatives in the current commercial environment. Behind the motivation for this bill is also a 
strong push from industry. This bill is something that the industry has wanted for some time. 
Cooperatives as an organisational form is confronted with various challenges, and the industry's 
push is for legislation that will allow it to grow, and that will facilitate interstate trade. 

The CHAIRMAN: This bill will obviously become a principal act. It is quite a hefty piece of 
legislation. 

Mrs McKeown: Yes, although it is not that much bigger than the current legislation in terms of the 
number of clauses, so that is a bit of a misnomer. 

The CHAIRMAN: Sure. Presumably in the bill will be the replacement administrative machinery 
for all aspects of regulating cooperatives? 

Mrs McKeown: Yes. All the transitional provisions are contained in the bill. 
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The CHAIRMAN: That will be in a manner that is uniform with other jurisdictions in Australia? 

Mrs McKeown: Yes. The transitional provisions under the W A legislation are slightly unique to 
Western Australia. In a sense, WA's legislation is entirely consistent with the national legislation, 
but it is also stand-alone legislation in that respect; it is not tied into the national legislation. In 
terms of transitional provisions, we have allowed for specific provisions that will cater for 
cooperatives in WA transferring to the new legislation. We have looked at providing ways of 
making the legislation less onerous for cooperatives here in Western Australia. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is the reason for the two-year transition period? 

Mrs McKeown: That is right, yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: We might return to the detail of that in a little while. You indicated in your 
opening remarks that a lot of the impetus for this new bill has been industry driven. 

Mrs McKeown: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: What consultation has taken place with stakeholders in the course of producing 
this legislation? 

Mrs McKeown: We issued a green bill in 2006 for public consultation. That was released for three 
months, and we received written submissions during that time. We also held a workshop, which we 
invited all cooperatives to attend, and we received their feedback and input into the legislation at 
that time. We also contacted directly those regional cooperatives that were not able to attend the 
workshop. 

The CHAIRMAN: The minister advised the house in introducing the bill that there are about 73 
cooperatives in Western Australia. 

Mrs McKeown: That is right. 

The CHAIRMAN: How many of them were able to attend your workshops? 

Mrs McKeown: There were approximately 50 people there. The estimate is that about 15 
cooperatives were represented at the workshop. We have also been having ongoing consultation 
with Co-operatives W A an industry reference group that represents over 80 per cent of cooperatives 
in W A and is the key industry body here in Western Australia. We have been in ongoing 
consultation with them on every aspect of the bill, and in terms of drafting instructions and 
comments on the green bill. We are also currently putting together an education strategy with Co
operatives W A. 

The CHAIRMAN: I imagine that there would be a big difference between those 73 cooperatives in 
terms of size, membership and assets. Can you give us an overview of the different types of 
cooperatives that exist in Western Australia? 

Mrs McKeown: Yes. I guess in Western Australia we are really characterised by the fact that there 
is a strong agricultural regional theme underlying a lot of our cooperatives. There are several 
different types. There are the small local supermarket-type cooperatives, which are referred to as 
service cooperatives. That is the situation in which, for example, you pay an annual fee and become 
a member of the cooperative, and, as a result, you get produce at a discounted rate. You then have 
the more marketing-type cooperatives, such as CBH-Co-operative Bulk Handling-where the 
farmers provide grain to the cooperative, and the cooperative then proceeds to market that grain, 
obviously at a better rate. I guess the underlying theme for a lot of cooperative structures is the 
notion of economies of scale, so members take advantage of the economies of scale to drive better 
bargains in terms of selling and marketing their produce. 

[10.50 am] 

Hon SHEILA MILLS: The second reading speech states that the bill will facilitate interstate trade 
and make it easier for Western Australian cooperatives to operate in the other states and territories. 
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How does it do that, given that interstate trade is guaranteed under the Constitution by various High 
Court judgements? What makes cooperatives different from any other corporation? 

Mrs McKeown: Under the current legislation, a cooperative can trade in other states but a lot more 
red tape is wrapped around it and there is a ream of registration requirements. A cooperative must 
comply with a whole list of registration requirements that can make trading in other states quite 
onerous. That is seen as additional red tape for cooperatives that want to trade in other states. The 
new cooperatives legislation contains the notion of mutual recognition. That is where the uniform 
laws come into it. W A is essentially a party to the national uniform laws agreement, and by being so 
the legislation is considered to be consistent. Under the mutual recognition provisions, as soon as a 
cooperative wants to trade in another state, and the state in which it wants to trade considers the 
Western Australian legislation to be consistent with its legislation, the onerous registration 
requirements are removed. The registration then becomes a very simple process. If the legislation is 
recognised as being consistent with other legislation, it is easier for a cooperative to trade in another 
jurisdiction. 

Hon SHEILA MILLS: Why would cooperatives have a different trading regime from any other 
company that wanted to trade in another state? Why should a cooperative have to register and not 
just trade in the same way that other business entities do? 

Mrs McKeown: Other businesses must comply with certain requirements before they are able to 
trade in other states. Our system was a little more antiquated and needed to be updated. 

The CHAIRMAN: Will the legislation increase the financial burden on cooperatives? 

Mrs McKeown: No, it should not. In fact, certain provisions have been put in place to ensure that 
the financial burden is lessened. For example, one of the differences between the Western 
Australian legislation and the template legislation is that Western Australia is introducing 
exemptions for cooperatives for a lot of the financial reporting requirements. That is consistent with 
the Corporations Act, which also contains exemptions for small companies. The regulations will 
also include some model rules. Under the legislation, cooperatives are required to register with a set 
of rules; the regulations will contain the rules. Therefore, a small cooperative can use those 
regulations as its rules and will not have to go to the expense of hiring a solicitor to draft the rules 
for the business. 

The CHAIRMAN: That answer is either very good or very bad; it is very good in the sense that it 
has anticipated about three other questions that I had to ask, which is a little bit bad because I must 
now make sure that I have covered all the aspects that I wanted to inquire into! I want to inquire 
into how small cooperatives will fare under the new legislation. You have indicated that some 
assistance will be provided to small cooperatives to help them with administrative burdens, such as 
coming up with the model rules. Are there any other ways that small cooperatives might find it a 
burden to comply with this new legislation, or any new aspects of the law? 

Mrs McKeown: The only new burden is educating the cooperatives about their new requirements 
under the legislation but that is the same for any new cooperative and any new legislation that 
comes into place. We have tried to do other things to lessen the burden. For example, we have put 
in place updated modes of communication. We now allow cooperatives to use facsimiles to 
communicate with their members. That will make it easier for small, regional cooperatives that are 
often quite remote and whose members can be quite dispersed. That measure will lessen the onus on 
them. Our education program is aimed at doing that also. The Department of Consumer and 
Employment Protection, in conjunction with Cooperatives W A, has planned a series of about seven 
workshops that will be held in not only metropolitan W A, but also regional areas. Our focus will be 
to draw in the small cooperatives and to provide them with a manual on how to register under the 
new legislation. We will inform them also of their key requirements. We will update our website to 
provide assistance for small cooperatives. The workshops are important because not all 
cooperatives will have access to the internet. 
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The CHAIRMAN: Again you have anticipated more of our questions! 

Mrs McKeown: Sorry! 

Page 4 

The CHAIRMAN: No; we are making great progress. Will this bill implement any changes to the 
current fee requirements for registration or other fees that apply to cooperatives? 

Mrs McKeown: The fee structure will be slightly different in that different documents will have to 
be registered but the fees will remain the same or be even less in some instances. There will not be 
an increase in the fees. Our aim is to make sure that the fees are commensurate with the current 
legislation. We will not require current cooperatives that want to transfer to the new legislation to 
have to pay another registration fee because obviously they will have already paid a fee under the 
current legislation. 

The CHAIRMAN: I guess that most of the fees are contained in regulation, which we do not have 
immediately before us. 

Mrs McKeown: They are. 

The CHAIRMAN: Are the current fees to register a cooperative just token fees to recover the 
administrative costs, or are they quite large? 

Mrs McKeown: They are collected on a cost-recovery basis. The application fee covers the 
administrative cost of checking the applications and there is a fee for lodging a disclosure 
document, which must be approved by a registrar. 

The CHAIRMAN: How much is that fee? 

Mrs McKeown: When looking at all the fees for getting a cooperative up and running, I think it is 
less than $300. It will work out to cost less to register as a cooperative under the new legislation 
than under the current legislation. 

The CHAIRMAN: Is the cost the same, whether it is for CBH or a local farming cooperative? 

Mrs McKeown: Yes, it is. This bill and the national template legislation are based on the 
Queensland act. The Queensland regulations are a bit of a guide. I have looked at its fees . That will 
involve some adjustment to cater for the local circumstances. 

The CHAIRMAN: Under the bill, new cooperatives will have to pay a registration fee. 

Mrs McKeown: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: You have already indicated that that fee will possibly be less than the current 
fee. Can you confirm that current cooperatives will be able to obtain their registration and not have 
to pay a second annual fee? 

Mrs McKeown: Yes, that is right. 

The CHAIRMAN: I turn now to offences. Does this bill create any new offences that do not exist 
under the current legislation? 

[11.00 am] 

Mrs McKeown: Not that I am aware of. 

The CHAIRMAN: And offences are basically dealt with in part of 17 of the bill. 

Mrs McKeown: Sorry, I should just say something that came to mind. We have new duties for 
directors under the bill, which is similar to directors' duties under the Corporations Law and they 
are really just to safeguard the rights of members and to ensure, for example, that directors are 
acting in the best interests of the cooperative and acting with due care and diligence. 

The CHAIRMAN: Moving on from offences, does this legislation increase DOCEP officers' 
powers? 



Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review Committee  

24 G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.coo.080527.rpf.030.xx.a.doc 

Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review Tuesday, 29 April 2008 Session Two Page 5 

Mrs McKeown: The registrar has an increased role under this piece of legislation, especially if 
there is an issue with a cooperative. The board of the cooperative or a member can request the 
intervention of the registrar in certain circumstances. The registrar is also required to keep 
additional registers with certain information in them. 

Hon DONNA FARAGHER: What is that information? 

Mrs McKeown: It is the list of registered cooperatives, a list of foreign cooperatives, a register of 
charges-that sort of thing. 

The CHAIRMAN: What powers, if any, are available to an inspector with regard to entry and 
search of premises? 

Mrs McKeown: An inspector has the right to enter and inspect premises in certain circumstances 
that are outlined in the bill. 

Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Are those powers different from those in the current legislation? 

Mrs McKeown: They are slightly different. It is difficult to say because they probably have greater 
powers in the sense that it is now more specifically spelt out under this legislation than it has been 
previously. Again, it is consistent with the national legislation's approach to investigation and the 
powers of investigators. 

The CHAIRMAN: Under clause 406(1)(c) an inspector may enter a place if-

it is a place on which the affairs or activities of a co-operative are managed or conducted. 

I wonder whether there was any contemplation about where those affairs or activities might be 
managed or conducted at a residential premises in the case of a very small cooperative. 

Mrs McKeown: I guess it is worded in such a way that if the premises is a residence then they can 
inspect it, yes. However, a lot of these provisions really are borne out of the sort of requirement to 
protect members as well. I guess in that sense, that also is why it has been embraced nationally. 
There has been seen a need to ensure that cooperatives are conducting themselves in such a way 
that they are protecting members' interests and that there is not, for example, fraud and so on. While 
the bill attempts to provide cooperatives with a greater commercial ability-and, in that sense, to be 
much more like companies-at the same time, if they are going to give those sorts of rights, I guess 
there is then the balancing need to ensure that members are protected in the process and that those 
powers are not abused. 

The CHAIRMAN: I do not have the existing legislation in front of me but does this power reflect 
an existing power? 

Mrs McKeown: I would have to check; sorry. 

The CHAIRMAN: We can do that away from here, but you have responded to the question 
anyway. 

Have the regulations and model rules for the new legislation been drafted yet? 

Mrs McKeown: They have not been drafted but, as I mentioned before, they will be based on the 
Queensland regulations and model rules, as is this bill. Therefore, that is a sort of starting point for 
it. During our consultation we did not receive feedback in relation to the regulations and the model 
rules, which we will obviously have to pick up on, and we will continue to do consultation in 
respect of those as well. 

[11.10 am] 

The CHAIRMAN: In the meantime, of course, you have a transitional period. 

Mrs McKeown: We do. 

The CHAIRMAN: During which the current regs and rules will continue. 
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Mrs McKeown: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: What has been the experience of New South Wales since it introduced 
cooperative capital units; and have cooperatives in NSW been quick to use them to raise capital? 

Mrs McKeown: They have not been overly successful in New South Wales. Having said that, some 
cooperatives have embraced them and used them very effectively. But in terms of the number of 
cooperatives that have picked them up, there are not a large proportion of cooperatives that have 
used them; and that is one of the reasons that W A has changed the cooperative capital unit 
provisions slightly. Our feedback from industry was that part of the problem with cooperative 
capital units, or CCUs, is their voting structure. So, unlike a share in a company in which for every 
share held you have a vote in relation to that share so it is proportionate voting rights, with 
cooperatives you have only one vote regardless of the number of shares you hold. So that was seen 
as an impediment to investors wanting to acquire these units, and I guess the CCUs have to compete 
with other financial instruments like shares, and if investors are not being given the same rights in 
relation to those financial instruments, then they were not appealing to investors; and as a result of 
the changes that W A has made, the national template legislation is now also going to change to 
reflect that amendment that we have made. 

The CHAIRMAN: Quite apart from other jurisdictions perhaps changing their legislation to reflect 
ours, is the government proposing to make any further amendment to this bill while it is before the 
house? 

Mrs McKeown: No, not that I am aware of. 

Hon DONNA FARAGHER: My question essentially goes back to our original questions with 
respect to consultation. and you mentioning that the cooperatives were supportive. As I recall, I 
think you said that Co-operatives W A are on the industry group and that it represents about 
80 per cent of cooperatives. 

Mrs McKeown: Yes. 

Hon DONNA FARAGHER: My question relates to that 20 per cent of cooperatives that are not 
members of Co-operatives W A. I am presuming that some of them have gone along to the 
consultations that you have been to and that you have conducted. Have any of those groups that are 
not part of Co-operatives W A expressed any concern with respect to this bill or are they all in 
general agreement that it is a positive move? 

Mrs McKeown: During the consultation period we received various questions, and issues were 
raised, but we have either answered the questions or addressed the issues, and to my mind there is 
no outstanding issue that one of those cooperatives has that I am aware of. But I guess that is also, I 
think, more an education thing. It is just so hard to communicate with those smaller cooperatives
that is, cooperatives outside Co-operatives WA's reach. For that reason we have done direct call
ups and just tried to contact them and find out what their issues are, and in all circumstances that I 
can think of we have been able to answer their questions. It is more about their understanding what 
the bill is about, what they have to do, what their obligations are. So I guess we are trying to address 
them through our education plan as well. However, I am not aware of any issues that they have 
had,. 

The CHAIRMAN: I think those are all the questions we have for now. Are there any other 
observations or comments that you want to offer? 

Mrs McKeown: Not really. I guess in terms of a piece of legislation, for me it is very positive in 
that it has a lot of broad support. It is not one of those pieces of legislation in which there are two 
very different competing interests. There seems to be general support for it and, as I said, it is 
something that industry has wanted. In terms of the national aspect, it is a bit of a win-win for us. 
The state is not fettered in its powers in relation to the national template legislation, and yet at the 
same time we get the benefits of mutual recognition and consistency. 
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The CHAIRMAN: I think that will conclude our hearing for now and I thank you very much 
indeed for your assistance. 

Mrs McKeown: That is all right; thanks. 

Hearing concluded at 11.12 am 
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6 May 2008 

Han Simon O'Brien MLC 
Chairman 
Standing Committee on Uniform Leg!slation and 
Statutes Review 
Legislative Couned Committee Office 
Parliament House 
PERTH WA 6000 

Dear Mr O'Brien 

Your ReT pgfjcp 

Our Hef: A560148 

Enquiries: Ms Karen , .. 'lcKeown 9282 0575 

INQUIRY INTO THE CO-OPERATIVES BILL 2007 - TRANSCRIPT OF 
EVIDENCE 

1 refer to your letter dated 30 April 2008, attaching a transcript of the evIdence I gave 
Lo the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Reviev,' 
(the 'Committee') on 29 April 2008. 

I have made some handwritten corrections to the attached transcript In relation to 
my response to some of the questions asked by the Committee, I would like to provide 
the following additional information. 

Co-operatives Interstate Trading Regime 
On page three of the transcript, the Hon Sheila Mills asked how the Bil! facilitated 
interstate trade given that trade is guaranteed under the Constitution and why 
co-operatives would have a different trading regime from any other business that 
wanted to trade in another State. 

I responded to this question by indicating that other types of businesses also have 
certain registration requirements that they have to comply with before they are able to 
trade in other States. I would like to further explain my answer by noting that other 
types of business forms that are governed by State rather than Commonwealth 
legislation do have to comply with various regulatory requirements before they are 
able to trade in other States. For example, associations registered under the INA 
Associations Incorporatio/7 Act 1981 are not ailowed to trade in another State unless 
they are registered as an association under that State's Associations' legislation. 

Th is is in contrast to companies registered under the Commonwealth Corporations Act 
2001 which are able to trade in any State or Territorl without having to register in the 
State in which they want to trade. 
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In this respect, the main difference between co-operatives and companies is that 
companies are regulated by Commonwealth legislation which applies to all 
jurisdictions, whereas co-operatives are regulated by State legislation. Therefore, co
operatives must comply with the co-operatives legislation in the State in which they 
want to t rade . 

The advantage of the new mutual recognition provisions under the Bill, are that they 
streamline the registration requirements for a co-operative wanting to register to trade 
in another State. 

Fees Under the Co-operatives Bill 2007 

On page four of the transcript, the Chairman asked how much the fee will be for 
registering as a co-operative under the new legislation. I can now confirm that under 
the current legislation, the fee for registering as a co-operative is $255. Together wi th 
associated costs (eg submitting company memorandum etc) the total cost of 
registering a new co-operative under the existing legislation is approximately $565. 

Fees for the new legislation will be outlined in the regu lations, which are yet to be 
drafted. However, it is anticipated that the regulatiolls, will be based on the 
Queensland regulations (n.b. the Bill is based on the Queensland Act). The 
Queellsland regulations indicate that the fee for reg istering as a co-operative is $116. 
Together with associated costs, the total cost of registering as a co-operative under 
the Queensland regulations is approximately $500. 

Tn any event, it is intended that fees under the new legislation will be commensurate 
with the fees under the existing legislation. 

Powers of Investigation 

On page five of the transcript, the Chairman asked if the powers of inspectors under 
the new legislation are different to their current powers and in particular, if the power 
referred to in clause 406(1)( c) also exists under the current legislation. 

I would like to clarify and expand on my response by noting the fonowing: 
Under the current legislation inspectors can be apPOinted by the Supreme Court, 
the co-operative itself or the Governor (who can delegate this power to the 
Registrar). 
Under the Bi ll, inspectors can be appointed by the Registrar. 
Unlike clause 406(1)(C) of the Bill, inspectors under the current legislation do not 
have the specific power to enter a place on which the activities of a co-operative 
are conducted. 
Ailowing inspectors to enter and search a place on which the activities of a 
co-operative are conducted overcomes the mischief of co-operatives under the 
current legislation, failing to produce all relevant documents. 
One of the objectives of the Bill is to safeguard the rights of members. 
Increasing the investigation powers assists in making co-operatives more 
accountable to their members. 
The investigation powers outlined in Part 15 of the Bill are consistent with the 
investigation powers in most other States and Territories and in the national 
template legislation . 

. . ./3 



 THIRTIETH REPORT 

G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.coo.080527.rpf.030.xx.a.doc 29 

-3-

Further Amendments to the Bill 
On page six of the transcript! the Chairman asked if the Government proposed to 
make any further amendment to the Bill while it was befor-e the House. 

My answer to this question was no. However, I should clarify that, whilst the 
Government does not intend to make any amendment to the substance of the Bill, 
an amendment will be moved in the House to correct a minor drafting error in 
relation to clause 322(1). 

Clause 322(1) as currently drafted does not contemplate the fact that under the 
transitional provisions in Part 6 of the Bill, 0 former member may be poid out at less 
than the full nominal value of their shares. 

This results in an unfair situation where a former member may be liable upon 
winding up, to contribute to the co-operative, the full nominal value of the shores, 
even though the member at the time of cancellation received less than the full 
nominal value of tile shares. As such, clause 322( 1) will be amended to provide that 
a former shoreholder is only liable to contribute the omount paid to them by the 
co-operative when their membership was cancelled. 

I hope this additionol informotion is of assistonce. Please do not hesitate to contact 
me if you have any further questions. 

Karen McKeown 
Legal Policy Officer 
DEPARTf\1ENT OF CONSUMER AND EMPLOYMENT PROTECTION 
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APPENDIX 2 

IDENTIFIED STRUCTURES FOR UNIFORM LEGISLATION  

The former Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and 
Intergovernmental Agreements identified and classified nine legislative structures relevant to the 
issue of uniformity in legislation which were endorsed by the 1996 Position Paper entitled Scrutiny 

of National Schemes of Legislation.  A brief description of each is provided below. 

Structure 1: Complementary Commonwealth-State or Co-operative Legislation.  The 
Commonwealth passes legislation, and each State or Territory passes legislation which interlocks 
with it and which is restricted in its operation to matters not falling within the Commonwealth’s 
constitutional powers. 

Structure 2: Complementary or Mirror Legislation.  For matters which involve dual, 
overlapping, or uncertain division of constitutional powers, essentially identical legislation is 
passed in each jurisdiction. 

Structure 3: Template, Co-operative, Applied or Adopted Complementary Legislation.  Here a 
jurisdiction enacts the main piece of legislation, with the other jurisdictions passing Acts which do 
not replicate, but merely adopt that Act and subsequent amendments as their own. 

Structure 4: Referral of Power.  The Commonwealth enacts national legislation following a 
referral of relevant State power to it under section 51 (xxxvii) of the Australian Constitution. 

Structure 5: Alternative Consistent Legislation.  Host legislation in one jurisdiction is utilised 
by other jurisdictions which pass legislation stating that certain matters will be lawful in their own 
jurisdictions if they would be lawful in the host jurisdiction.  The non-host jurisdictions cleanse 
their own statute books of provisions inconsistent with the pertinent host legislation. 

Structure 6: Mutual Recognition.  Recognises the rules and regulations of other jurisdictions.  
Mutual recognition of regulations enables goods or services to be traded across jurisdictions.  For 
example, if goods or services to be traded comply with the legislation in their jurisdiction of origin 
they need not comply with inconsistent requirements otherwise operable in a second jurisdiction, 
into which they are imported or sold. 

Structure 7: Unilateralism.  Each jurisdiction goes its own way.  In effect, this is the antithesis 
of uniformity. 

Structure 8: Non-Binding National Standards Model.  Each jurisdiction passes its own 
legislation but a national authority is appointed to make decisions under that legislation.  Such 
decisions are, however, variable by the respective State or Territory Ministers. 

Structure 9: Adoptive Recognition.  A jurisdiction may choose to recognise the decision 
making process of another jurisdiction as meeting the requirements of its own legislation 
regardless of whether this recognition is mutual. 
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APPENDIX 3 

FUNDAMENTAL LEGISLATIVE SCRUTINY PRINCIPLES  

Does the legislation have sufficient regard to the rights and liberties of individuals? 

1. Are rights, freedoms or obligations, dependent on administrative power only if sufficiently 
defined and subject to appropriate review?  

2. Is the Bill consistent with principles of natural justice?  

3. Does the Bill allow the delegation of administrative power only in appropriate cases and to 
appropriate persons?  Sections 44(8)(c) and (d) of the Interpretation Act 1984.  The matters to 
be dealt with by regulation should not contain matters that should be in the Act not 
subsidiary legislation.  

4. Does the Bill reverse the onus of proof in criminal proceedings without adequate 
justification?  

5. Does the Bill confer power to enter premises, and search for or seize documents or other 
property, only with a warrant issued by a judge or other judicial officer? 

6. Does the Bill provide appropriate protection against self-incrimination?  

7. Does the Bill adversely affect rights and liberties, or impose obligations, retrospectively?  

8. Does the Bill confer immunity from proceeding or prosecution without adequate 
justification?  

9. Does the Bill provide for the compulsory acquisition of property only with fair compensation?  

10. Does the Bill have sufficient regard to Aboriginal tradition and Island custom?  

11. Is the Bill unambiguous and drafted in a sufficiently clear and precise way?   

Does the Bill have sufficient regard to the institution of Parliament? 

12. Does the Bill allow the delegation of legislative power only in appropriate cases and to 
appropriate persons?  

13. Does the Bill sufficiently subject the exercise of a proposed delegated legislative power 
(instrument) to the scrutiny of the Legislative Council? 

14. Does the Bill allow or authorise the amendment of an Act only by another Act? 

15. Does the Bill affect parliamentary privilege in any manner? 

16. In relation to uniform legislation where the interaction between state and federal powers is 
concerned: Does the scheme provide for the conduct of Commonwealth and State reviews 
and, if so, are they tabled in State Parliament? 

 

 


